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1. Name of Property

historic name  Coker Hills Historic District

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number  Allard, Audubon, Clayton, Curtis, Lyons, Michaux, North Elliott, and N/A not for publication
Velma Roads; South Lakeshore Drive; Wood Circle

city or town  Chapel Hill N/A vicinity

stat  North Carolina code NC county Orange code 135 zipcode 27514

e

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this [x] nomination

[ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set for in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant (] nationally
[ statewide [X locally. (See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title State Historic Preservation Officer : Date

North Carolina Department of Natural and Cultural:-Resources
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [[] meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. ((] See Continuation sheet for
additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title - Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby certify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Action

[J entered in the National Register.
[ See continuation sheet

O determined eligible for the
National Register. !
[OJ See continuation sheet

[J determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[J removed from the National
Register.

[ other,(explain:)
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Name of Property

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property  Category of Property

(Check as many boxes as (Check only one box)

apply)
X private (] building(s)
(] public-local X district
(] public-State [ site

(] structure
] object

(] public-Federal

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
108 31 buildings
1 v 0 sites
2 ; ' 3 structures
0 ) ' 0 objects
111 34 ~_ Total

Number of Contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register -

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC: Single Dwelling

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC: Single Dwelling

DOMESTIC: Secondary Structure

DOMESTIC: Secondary Structure

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Colonial Revival

OTHER:Minimal Traditional

Modern Movement

International Style

OTHER: Ranch

OTHER: Split Level

OTHER: Shed Style

OTHER: French Provincial

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation BRICK

walls BRICK

WOOD — weatherboard, board-and-batten

SYNTHETIC - fiber-cement

roof ASPHALT

RUBBER

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Name of Property

County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

X A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

(] B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[ ] D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[ ] A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

[] B removed from its original location.

[] C a birthplace or grave.

[] D acemetery.

[ ] E areconstructed buildiﬁg,r object, or étructure_.,

[] F a commemorative property

[] G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

s Significant Dates

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Community Planning and Development

Architecture

Period of Significance
1961-1976

N/A

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked)

NI

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

_Architect/Builder
See continuation sheet

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain.the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[] preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

[] previously listed in the National Register

[] Previously determined eligible by the National
Register

[ designated a National Historic Landmark

[] recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

#
[ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record

Primary location of additional data:

X] State Historic Preservation Office

[] Other State Agency

[] Federal Agency

[] Local Government

X University

[] Other

Name of repository:

North Carolina State University Libraries, Raleigh

Wilson Special Collections Library, UNC-Chapel Hill
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Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 119.60 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

See Latitude/Longitude coordinates continuation sheet
1 3

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
2 4

See continuétion sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitte Heather Fearnbach ! :
organization Fearnbach History Services, Inc. date  5/1/2025

street & number 3334 Nottingham Road telephone. 336-765-2661
city ortown  Winston-Salem state _NC zipcode 27104

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or.15 minute series) indicating the property’s location

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items:)

Property Owner .

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name *_Multiple owners (more than fifty)
street & number telephone
city or town ' state NC Zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listing. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.)

- Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P. O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20303.
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7. Principal Exterior Materials

Foundation: Concrete
Walls: Concrete
Stucco
Synthetics: vinyl

8. Architects and Engineers

Beam, James Lorn Jr. (1918-2010)
Brunier, Louis Mauritz (1926-1993)
Cogswell, Arthur Ralph (1930-2010)
Condoret, Jon Andre (1934-2010)

Davis, Archie Royal (1907-1980)

Giles, Gary Durfee (1939- )

Hakan, M. Joseph (1926-2006)

Harris, Harwell Hamilton (1903-1990)
Lee, Elizabeth Bobbitt (1928-2010)
Matern, Rudolph Albert (1912-2000)
Nassif, Joseph Lee (1933- . ) '
O’Shea, Thomas Michael Dillon (1925-2013)
Palmquist. Irving Eugene (1911-1986)
Pollman. Richard Bartleson (1914-1980)
Shawcroft, Brian (1929-2017)

Sprinkle, William Van Easton (1906-1965)
Stevens, Anne Bickett Parker (1921-2007)
Tate. James Knox IV (1944-2023)

Tuttle, Arthur Norman Jr. (1931-2004)
Webb, James Murray (1908-2000)

Winn, Louis Sumner Jr. (1928-2000)

8. Builders

Bacon, Robert E. Jr. (1929-2021)
Curl, David Lee (1928-2010)
Crumpton, Bruce (1935-2013)

East Coast Development Corporation
Ellington, Carl (1904-1986)
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Fogelman, Lindsey Luther (1922-2007)
Goforth, James Paul (1940-1990)
Hahn, Herbert Ransom (1932-1996)
Higgs, George Donald (1931- )
Johnson, Odis (1930- )

Lea and Fearrington

Lloyd, Herman Braxton (1914-1991)
Mann, Edward N. Sr. (1909-1992)
Massey, Herbert Vernon (1928-2007)
Metz, Fritz Giel (1944- )

Orange Builders

Osborne, Frederick Edgar (1911-2001)
Rhew, Lee Holloway (1918-2006)
Scholz, Donald J. (1920-2000)
Security Building Company ,
Sparrow, Philip Warren (1903-1970)
Spratt, Roy McRee (1920-2013)
Stevens, Jack Elmer (1921-1981)
Thomas, Joseph Van (1920-2002)
Ward, Jasper Paul (1923-1985)

Witt, C.S. (1924-2007)

7. Narrative Description
Summary Paragraph

Coker Hills Historic District, located in northeast Chapel Hill, Orange County, North Carolina,
encompasses 129 primary resources on 119.60 acres. The subdivision was developed as platted and
maintains its original configuration of straight and curvilinear streets and cul-de-sacs. The district is
characterized by rolling topography, dense vegetation, large lots. and deep setbacks that provide a
naturalistic setting for a diverse collection of houses, most erected between 1961 and 1972. Builders and
architects modified stock plans or rendered drawings for distinctive residences in a variety of
styles—Colonial Revival, Minimal Traditional. Ranch. International. and Modernist—as well as
forms—one- and two-story. split-level, and split-foyer. Most retain architectural integrity, with minimal
exterior alteration or substantial enlargement. The twenty-three noncontributing dwellings in the district
post-date 1976 or were built before 1976 and have been significantly altered.
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Description

Coker Hills was developed in phases, beginning in 1960 with the south section, where houses flank two
parallel east-west streets—Clayton and Elliott Roads. Audubon and Curtis Roads run north-south. The
east portion of the first phase also encompasses the curvilinear Michaux and Velma Roads and Wood
Circle, a short cul-de-sac. In subsequent phases between 1963 and 1967, Audubon, Curtis, and Michaux
Roads were extended north to connect with Allard and Lyons Roads and Lakeshore Drive. Allard Road
comprises two discontiguous segments. The southeast portion runs north-south, while the segment north
of Michaux Road has a winding east-west orientation.'

The subdivision’s 1960 restrictive covenants required fifty-foot setbacks and property owner submittal of
architectural and landscape plans for review by a committee appointed by the Coker College Board of
Trustees, thus ensuring mature tree and natural topography preservation and creek protection during
construction. University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (hereafter abbreviated UNC-CH) botany
professor and arboretum and botanical garden director Henry Roland Totten, who orchestrated the
neighborhood’s development, provided guidance regarding house siting and tree retention.” As a result,
dwelling orientation is site-specific and the tree canopy is extensive. Houses are often angled on lots and
stand on hills above street grade. Some residences on the north side of Allard Road, west side of Audubon
Road, and south side of Clayton and North Elliott Roads are located below street level. The rolling
topography facilitates full exposure of basement walls on secondary elevations of many houses that appear
to have only one story from public view. Brick, stone, and heavy-timber retaining walls and terracing were
employed to ameliorate grade change. Although most walls were erected by or for homeowners,
developers may have commissioned construction of some of the stone walls adjacent to concrete-paved
municipal sidewalks. Original Modernist lampposts with round black-finished-metal posts and opaque
white globes border driveways and walkways at five residences.

Many Coker Hills residents have been avid gardeners, in some cases commissioning landscape architects
such as Richard C. Bell, John H. Harris., Dick Henry, Morris King, and Gil Thurlow to prepare planting
plans.” Dr.Totten and his wife Addie Williams Totten, a horticulturist, guided landscaping efforts; donated
seeds, cuttings. and plants from their Laurel Hill garden to homeowners: and facilitated organization of the
Coker Hills' Garden Club in 1961. In appreciation, members reconstituted as the Henry Roland Totten
Garden Club in September 1962.°  Parcels are wooded, with deciduous and evergreen trees including pine,

! Orange County Plat Book (hereafter abbreviated PB) 9, pp. 18 and 19: PB 13, p. 46; PB 14, p. 162:PB 13, p. 204.

2 Orange County Deed Book (hereafter abbreviated DB) 178, p. 510; Jill Ridky-Blackburn, Historic Coker Hills: A Botanists’
Neighborhood in Chapel Hill (Zebulon: Theo Printing, 2016), 45-46, 170, 177.

3 “Garden Club,” Chapel Hill Weeklv, November 4, 1962, p. B4; Betty Hodges, “Chapel Hill Flower Show,” Durham Morning
Herald, April 26, 1964, p. B12; Ridky-Blackburn, Historic Coker Hills, 181-183.
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oak, maple, tulip poplar, sweet gum, elm, beech, dogwood, magnolia, willow, holly. and crepe myrtle
shielding residences from street traffic and neighboring houses. ~Assorted perennials and shrubs such as
boxwood, camellia, viburnum, azalea, and rhododendron punctuate lots. Large decks, porches, patios,
terraces, and winding paths facilitate connectivity with the outdoors.

Public amenities include E. C. Leonard Park, created in 1962 at the northeast corner of Clayton and
Audubon Roads. The half-acre park, which encompasses a grass field and wooded areas with perimeter
benches and picnic tables, was named in honor of Edward Charles Leonard, a neighborhood resident and
civil engineer who surveyed myriad mid-twentieth-century subdivisions including Coker Hills. A wooded
walking path spans the distance between Michaux Road and the southeast end of the north portion of Allard
Road. Nature trails extend from the south ends of Michaux and Audubon Roads through Pritchard Park
south of the district to the Chapel Hill Public Library at 100 Library Drive. The concrete-paved municipal
sidewalk that runs east-west between the 1603 and 1701 Curtis Road parcels facilitates access from the
Coker Hills neighborhood to the-approximately thirty-three-acre Estes Hills Elementary School and Phillips
Middle School (originally Guy B. Phillips Junior High School) campus at the end of Clayton Road.*

Much of the surrounding area is residential, with mid-twentieth-century subdivisions including Lake Forest
Estates to the north and east, VernonHills to the east, Coker Hills West to the west and north, and Estes
Hills to the south and west. The thirty-four-acre Pritchard Park, which includes walking trails and the 1994
Chapel Hill Public Library. is south of the district.  East of the district, commercial and multi-family
residential development lines South Estes Drive, East Franklin Street, and Fordham Boulevard.
Construetion burgeoned in conjunction with Chapel Hill’s growth during the 1960s and 1970s.

Inventory List

The inventory list is arranged alphabetically by street name with properties cataloged by address in
ascending order. Each residence is assigned a name, where possible, that reflects original and/or long-term
ownership. Longtime owner names are typically included even if they purchased the house after the end of
the period of significance. Actual or approximate completion dates and the dates of any major alterations
or additions follow the property name. Occupancy information and construction and alteration dates are
based on deeds. historic documents, city directories, photographs, newspaper articles, Orange County
property record cards, interviews with local informants, and architectural style. Primary source

4 Estes Hills Elementary School, designed by Durham architect Marion A. Ham, was erected in 1958 and received a twelve-room
addition designed by architect Donald Stewart and built by Siler City general contractor Van Thomas’s company in 1963. Guy
B. Phillips Junior High School. named for the UNC-CH School of Education professor and dean, was also completed in August
1963. Both schools have been enlarged and renovated. “School Plan,” Durham Sun, May 14, 1957, p. 3; “Estes Hills Wing.”
Chapel Hill Weekly, August 29, 1962, p. 1; “New Junior High,” Chapel Hill Weekly, April 28, 1963, p. 1.
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repositories include the Orange County Register of Deeds and the North Carolina Collection at Wilson
Library, UNC-CH. Historical background information regarding each property follows each description.
Architects and builders are identified when known. In some entries, dates of property ownership changes
are indicated in parentheses. '

The district’s period of significance begins in 1961 and ends in 1976. _Although construction slowed by
1973. one house built in 1976 is similar in character to other dwellings, so the period of significance ends
with its construction. Each resource is designated as contributing or noncontributing to the district’s
historic significance and integrity. Contributing resources must possess integrity of location, design,
setting, materials. workmanship, feeling, and association. - The evaluations are based on age and degree of
alteration. Buildings constructed in or before 1976 are considered to be contributing if they retain
architectural integrity from the period of significance. The thirty-one (twenty-three primary and eight
secondary) noncontributing buildings in the district post-date 1976 or were built before 1976 and have been
heavily altered. Modifications thatsignificantly diminish integrity include application of synthetic siding,
replacement of original windows and doors, fenestration changes, porch enclosure or additions on primary
elevations, and/or construction of large additions.

In the following inventory list, principal resource headings are in bold. Subheadings for secondary
resources are in bold and indented. Inventory descriptions detail elevations visible from public
right-of-way. In many cases, deep setbacks, heavily wooded lots, or fences limited view. Many houses
appear to be one story tall from the street, but have full two-story exposure on secondary elevations due to
the rolling topography. Aerial photographs and Google Street View images from 2007 until the present
were used to determine building massing and approximate alteration dates. Triangle Multiple Listing
Services (TMLS) photograph, conversations and email correspondence with property owners, previous
architectural survey documentation, and newspaper articles allowed for more comprehensive descriptions
of residences otherwise difficult to view. All descriptions are based upon fieldwork and research
conducted during 2024 and 2025.

Sixteen outbuildings and structures substantial in size or scale that are clearly visible from the public
right-of-way are included in the inventory list. However, many freestanding garages, carports, sheds, and
other outbuildings were not included because a comprehensive survey was not possible due to access
constraints. Online observation (through Google Street View or Satellite View, for example) is not
reliably accurate. This nomination omits these buildings and structures from resource counts but
acknowledges that some were built during the period of significance and may contribute to the historic
district if they retain integrity.
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Allard Road
Taylor-Woodward House, 1965, 1702 Allard Road, contributing building

This side-gable-roofed red-brick-veneered house comprises a two-story four-bay main block and an offset
one-and-one-half-story-on-basement south wing with a lower-level garage. Colonial Revival stylistic
elements include the single-leaf paneled wood front door framed by four-pane sidelights with paneled bases
and shed-roofed portico supported by a fluted square post. Brick steps and a slender metal railing rise to
the portico’s brick and concrete landing. A brick end chimney with a corbelled stack pierces the eaves at
the main block’s north end. Fixed louvered shutters flank replacement synthetic one-over-one sash
windows installed circa 2013. The original windows were eight-over-eight double-hung wood sash.

Iowa native Duane F. Taylor, who served in the U. S. Navy Air Corps during World War 11, joined the
UNC-CH faculty in 1963 as chairman of the dentistry school’s department of dental materials. Dr. Taylor
taught operative dentistry and conducted research. "The Taylors purchased this Allard Road lot in February
1964 and commissioned construction of the house completed the next year. Patricia M. Taylor was an
active member of the Henry Roland Totten Garden Club. | The Taylors sold the property to current owners
W. Stephen and Clare V. Woodward in August 1987.

Royal House, 1968, 1703 Allard Road, contributing Building

This Modernist house features two one-story-on-basement vertical-board-sheathed wings cantilevered
above stack-bond concrete-masonry-unit foundations. The primary entrance is accessed from the north
end of the flat-roofed hyphen between the two wings. The east wing’s shed roof extends to cover a
full-width porch with a wood floor, posts, and square-picket railing deteriorated from water infiltration.
Wood lattice and a screen door enclose the porch’s north end. Concrete-masonry-unit posts support the
porch, which shelters a basement-level patio. Aluminum-frame sliding-glass doors with wood-frame
sidelights, clerestory windows, and skylights illuminate the east wing’s main level. Wood-frame windows
and single-leaf glazed doors and windows light the basement. A tall, rectangular, painted-brick chimney
rises from the roof’s center. The west wing has a low-pitched roof with deep eaves that shelter the
plate-glass windows spanning the south elevation. The north elevation is blind. The site grade slopes
down to the south, with the concrete driveway at the parcel’s north edge.

Psychiatrist Billy W. Royal had a private practice and was a clinical instructor at UNC-CH’s medical
school. He directed Edgecombe-Nash Metal Health Clinic in Rocky Mount from its 1964 founding until
1975 and subsequently served as the clinical services director at Cherry Hospital in Goldsboro and a

* “Duane F. Taylor,” News and Observer (Raleigh), April 16, 2018, p. 6; DB 197, p. 146; DB 675, p. 231.
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consulting physician at Dorothea Dix Hospital in Raleigh. Dr. Royal and his wife Lillian Butner Royal
bought this lot in December 1963 and commissioned Spratt Construction and Real Estate Company, headed
by Roy McRee Spratt, to build a house designed by Arthur Cogswell’s firm. James Posey was the
supervising architect.® Billy W. Royal and his second wife Nancy L. Earl retain ownership.

Alice E. Dietz House, 1971, 1705 Allard Road, contributing building

This Modernist house encompasses a main block with a low-pitched front-gable north section and a
side-gable south wing, a flat-roofed central wing, and a flat-roofed rear wing. Narrow painted vertical
boards sheathe the main block beneath deep eaves supported by projecting rafter ends in the front-gable
section. Aluminum-frame sliding-glass doors and wood-frame clerestory windows punctuate the east
wall, which is spanned by a wood deck with a horizontal-board railing. A broad red-brick chimney rises

on the south wall.

Alice Dietz returned to the United States in 1969 following an eight-year tenure as director of nursing at the
Phebe Hospital and School of Nursing in Zorzor, Liberia, where she guided development of sub-Saharan
Africa’s first general baccalaureate degree program in nursing. After earning a master’s degree in public
health from UNC-CH, she joined Duke University’s nursing school faculty in fall 1970. Dietz engaged
Orange Builders, headed by David Lee Curl, to erect her house completed in December 1971. She was a
clinical associate professor at UNC-CH’s nursing school from 1977 until her retirement. In August 2002,
Dietz conveyed the property to a trust of which Billy W. and Nancy L. Royal’s daughter Emily Earl-Royal
was the beneficiary. W. Stephen and Clare V. Woodward bought the house from Earl-Royal in May
2022¢7 N

M. Joseph and Joy G. Hakan House, 1981, 1710 Allard Road, noncontributing building

This asymmetrically massed French Provincial-style house is characterized by one- and-two-story gable-
and hip-roofed wings with stuccoed walls above tall brick kneewalls. Stuccoed quoins embellish
prominent corners. Multi-pane windows and French doors, some with arched transoms. light the interior.
The elevation decline to the north allows for a partially above-grade basement. The expansive west deck.
cantilevered high above grade, has a slender metal railing. Similar railings span window and French door
openings, emulating balconies. The house is noncontributing due to its age.

5 Bob Williams, “Dr. Royal Resigns,” Rocky Mount Telegram, April 10, 1975, p. 16: “Faculty Notes,” Chapel Hill Newspaper.
August 3, 1975, p. D2; DB 196, p. 597: DB 362, p. 24; DB 1055, p. 286: Ridky-Blackburn, Historic Coker Hills, 153.

7 “Duke School of Nursing,” Chapel Hill Weekly, October 11, 1970, p. 7; “Harris, Dietz Win National Honors.” Durham Sun,
October 3, 1977, p. 7; Betty Hodges, Herald-Sun (Durham), March 23. 1980, pp. E1-E2; DB 232, p. 1595: DB 2647, p. 360: DB
2671, p. 380; DB 3920, p. 533; DB 6782, p. 1000.
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Joplin, Missouri, native M. Joseph Hakan, known as Joe, earned.a civil engineering degree from Duke
University in 1949 after serving in the U. S. Navy during World War 1. He was the chief engineer at
UNC-CH from 1952 until 1963. Hakan subsequently established a series of architectural engineering
firms including Construction Engineering (1965), Hakan, Best, and Associates (1970), Hakan, Corley, and
Associates (1971), and Hakan Corley Redfoot Zack. He developed numerous residential and commercial
projects throughout the region. Notable Chapel Hill commissions include the Dean E. Smith Center
basketball arena and the Kenan Stadium expansion at UNC-CH, Bolinwood and Foxcroft Apartments, East
Chapel Hill High School, and the Siena Hotel (1987) and Chapel Hill Center (1988; three office buildings,
two restaurants, and stores) flanking East Franklin Street.... The Hakans purchased a lot on Allard Road in
October 1980 and designed the house erected the next year. Joe-Hakan retired in 1995 and died in March
2006. Joy Hakan still owns the property.®

Werner David and Jeanette L. Falk House, 1972, 1711 Allard Road, contributing building

This long, rectangular, two-story, side-gable-roofed Modernist house stands atop a hill at Allard Road’s
southwest end. Painted vertical boards sheathe the walls beneath deep eaves supported by projecting rafter
ends in the gables.« Large single and grouped sliding aluminum-frame windows, clerestory windows, and
glazed doors provide ample light.. Wood decks with.square posts and picket railings span the north and
south elevations. An unpainted horizontal-board fence erected circa 2023 extends north from the northeast
corner.

Werner David and Jeanette L. Falk purchased this lot from Security Building Company, headed by J. P
Goforth, in June 1972, soon after their marriage. They occupied the home in January 1973. Werner
David Falk, a native of Berlin educated at Heidelberg University in Germany and Oxford University in
England, taught at myriad institutions including Syracuse, Wayne State, and Brown Universities;
University of Illinois; University of Michigan; Oxford University and the London School of Economics,
Aberdeen University in Scotland; and the University of Melbourne in Australia before joining the UNC-CH
philosophy department faculty in 1963. He chaired the department from 1965 until 1975 and retired in
1978. Dr. Falk was named a National Humanities Center fellow in 1979. He died October 11, 1991.
Jeanette Falk, a New York native, moved to Chapel Hill in 1967. The UNC-CH alumna owned the
Children’s Store. a purveyor of clothing and accessories for infants to teenagers established in 1977, and
Toy Corner, opened in 1984. Both were located in Chapel Hill s University Mall until December 31, 2010.
The Children’s Store operated at 234 South Elliott Road from March 2011 until March 2017. Jeanette

§ «“Architectural-Engineering Firm Formed.” Chapel Hill Weekly, January 11, 1970, p. 7; Jim Barnett, “Missouri native,” News
and Observer, April 3, 1987, p. E9; Jeanna Baxter, “New Siena Hotel,” Daily Tar Heel, September 29, 1987, p. 4; Rob Shapard,
“Architect, ‘Mr. UNC” Joe Hakan.” Chapel Hill Herald. March 15. 2006, pp. 1 and 3; DB 350. p. 59; DB 4450, p. 73.
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Falk’s daughter Rebecca Broun, known as Becky, joined the business in 1999. Jeanette conveyed the
Allard Road property to Becky and her husband Daniel Broun inJune 2004. Becky sold the house to
Joshua Garcia and Justin Uzl in December 2020.°

Charles W. Thompson and Eugenia C. Conway House, 1973, 1720 Allard Road, contributing
building

This two-story Shed-style house situated below street level on Allard Road’s north side encompasses three
asymmetrical sections with intersecting shed roofs of various heights. * The north (rear) section is the
largest and has the highest ridge. The house is sheathed with painted vertical boards above a tall parged
foundation. A group of windows with fixed upper sections and hopper bases pierces the second story of
southwest section’s south wall. The primary entrance and two tall, narrow windows are recessed at the
west end of the southeast section’s south wall. Due to the dramatic grade decline to the north, the wood
decks that wrap around the south; west. and north elevations vary in elevation. The decks and walkway
leading from the street to the primary entrance have wood posts and railings.

Charles William Thompson, known as “Tommy,” and Eugenia Cecelia Conway, called “Cece,” purchased
this house designed and constructed by Security Building Company in October 1973.  Tommy Thompson
was the original banjo player for the Red Clay Ramblers, a North Carolina string band formed in fall 1972
that garnered international acclaim. He retired in 1994 and died in 2003. The band continues to perform.
Cece Conway holds B.A. and M.A. degrees in English from Duke University and a PhD. from UNC-CH.
She taught folklore, English, and film criticism courses at UNC-CH before joining the Appalachian State
University English department faculty in Boone, where she remains a professor. Dr. Conway has
conducted extensive research regarding African influence on Appalachian music and the lives of
Appalachian musicians; organized music festivals: and produced and directed documentaries. Film
subjects included Appalachian musician and storyteller Ora Mae Watson, banjo and dulcimer player and
maker Clifford Glenn, and Surry County fiddler Tommy Jarrell and his sister Julie Jarrell. Dr. Conway
retains ownership of the Allard Road house.'”

° “Real Estate Transfers,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, January 21, 1973, p. B15; “Dr. Werner D. Falk, " Daily Tar Heel, pp. 1 and 3;
Paquita Jurgenson. “Back-to-School Dressing,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, August 24, 1977, p. G1; Lori R. Nickel, “Educational,”
Chapel Hill Newspaper, December 16, 1984, p. D1; “Falk, philosophy scholar,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, October 15, 1991, p. 2:
Gregory Childress, “Children’s Store,” Chapel Hill Herald, December 24, 2010, p. 1: “Chapel Hill toy store.” HHerald-Sun.
March 14, 2011, p. D2; Tammy Grubb, “Children’s Store,” News and Observer, March 26, 2017, pp. 1 and 3; DB 239, pp. 1620
and 1624: DB 3459, p. 226: DB 6695, p. 257.

10 DB 245, p. 1019; Ridky-Blackburn. Historic Coker Hills, 135; Red Clay Ramblers, “About.”
https://redclayramblers.com/biography/ (accessed May 2024); “Cece Conway,” Appalachian State University Department of
English faculty directory. https://english.appstate.edu/faculty-staff/directory/cece-conway (accessed September 2024).
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Jean M. and Joseph Finley Lee Jr. House, 1970, 1987, 1721 Allard Road, contributing building

This side-gable-roofed variegated-red-brick-veneered Ranch house comprises a seven-bay main block, a
slightly offset two-bay garage at the west end, and a gabled 1987 primary suite addition at the southeast
corner. French doors on the breakfast room’s south wall provide patio egress, while the 1987 wing
features a deck accessed from the west sitting room. Colonial Revival'elements include a denticulated
cornice, quoins, and gable-end cornice returns. The single-leaf front door and sidelights are inset within a
wood-paneled opening flanked by pilasters. The original multi-pane double-hung sash windows have
been replaced with one-over-one sash windows. The interior is characterized by hardwood floors,
classical molding, and built-in cabinetry. The house occupies a corner lot with driveway access from
Lyons Road. e Ty 4

The Lees bought this lot in March 1970 and engaged Orange Builders to erect their house. Davidson
College and University of Pennsylvania alumnus J. Finley Lee joined UNC-CH’s faculty in August 1970 as
the Julian Price associate professor in the School of Business Administration. While teaching economics
courses for twenty-five years, Dr. Lee regularly served as a speaker and consultant for professional
organizations and government agencies regarding employee benefits, insurance, and estate planning. Jean
Mauldin Lee, a Salem College graduate, was a laboratory chemist before having children. The Lees sold
the property to Leonard E. and Symoine Laufe in April 1976. Subsequent owners include Jeffrey Allen
and Acey Joy Frelinger (December 1982), Dwight A. and Lynne D. Morris (October 1991), and Robert and
Karen Futch (April 2004).!!

Robert R. and Patricia F. Cornwell House, 1972, 1722 Allard Road, contributing building

" This one-story-on-basement, side-gable-roofed, Modernist Ranch house is below street level on Allard
Road’s north side. The house is sheathed with painted vertical boards above tall
variegated-red-brick-veneer kneewalls on the primary (south) facade and the brick foundation elsewhere.
A gabled wing extends north from the east end. Fixed and sliding wood-frame plate-glass windows light
the interior:. Narrow sidelights flank the recessed double-leat wood-frame glazed front door. A gabled
canopy shelters the west entrance. A wood deck with a post-and-wire railing except for a small area with a
wood picket railing at the southwest corner spans the west and north elevations.

Security Building Company sold the property to the Cornwells in June 1972. Robert R. Cornwell was

" “Building Permits,” Chapel Hill Weekly, June 24, 1970, p. 4; “]. Finley Lee Jr. Named,” Chapel Hill Weekly, September 2,
1970, Sec. 2, p. 8; “Finley Lee Named,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, September 21, 1975, p. 3; “Joseph Finley Lee,” Naples Daily
News (Florida), February 17,2022, p. B3; “Jean Mauldin Lee,” Naples Daily News. December 4, 2022, p. B14; DB 224, p. 1027,
DB 262, p. 1613; DB 405, p. 266; DB 939, p. 286; DB 3409, p. 146.
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UNC-CH’s associate registrar from 1974 until his death in 1994. Patricia Ford Cornwell, a Lincolnton
native and UNC-CH graduate, died in September 1979. Wesley D. and Gail D. Cox bought the house from
Robert Cornwell in September 1980. Subsequent owners include Ronald J. and Katherine Huffman Falk
(December 1985) and Scott L. and Candace Denise Roberts Kelly (July 1997). Scott Lee Kelly, who
served in the U. S. Marines during the Vietnam War, retired from General Motors Company. He died in on
July 26, 2012. Retired UNC Hospitals pharmacist Candace Denise Roberts Kelly retains ownership.'?

Evelyn M. Bartlett House, 1971, 1724 Allard Road, contributing building

The five-bay main block of this pale-red-brick-veneered Ranch house include two projecting hip-roofed
bays west of the entrance. A two-bay hip-roofed garage extends from the dwelling’s east end. Colonial
Revival elements include quoins, a deep molded cornice, and an inset single-leaf paneled wood front door
framed by four-pane sidelights with paneled bases. Brick steps with slender metal railings rise to the brick
landing. A multi-pane three-section picture window fills the projecting bay east of the door. Fixed
louvered shutters flank six-over-six double-hung sash with wood-panel spandrels. A broad brick chimney
pierces the roof near its center.

Robert B. and Evelyn M. Bartlett purchased this lot in November 1967 and engaged a builder to erect a
residence designed by Richard B. Pollman, whose Michigan company Home Planners, Inc. published books
containing over 2,500 house plans during the mid-twentieth century. The Bartletts selected design number
1892, which the contractor moditied so that the garage entrance would be on the east elevation rather than
the facade. Robert Bartlett, a U..S. Naval officer and civil engineer who served in World War II, Korea,
and Vietnam, was a Duke University construction administrator. He died in June 1970 before the house
was completed. Evelyn McNair Bartlett sold the property to Albert A. and Lorraine Geiger in August
1992. Charles P. and Judith B. Smith bought the house in November 1998.!°

Rosina V. and Robert M. Stephenson Jr. House, 1968, 1726 Allard Road, contributing building
(Photo 1)

This one-story-on-basement gable-roofed Modernist residence comprises an L-shaped main block and an
offset gabled east garage surrounding a central brick patio surrounded by a brick wall. The house is
sheathed with painted vertical boards above brick-veneered kneewalls on courtyard-facing elevations and

12 “Finals at UNC,” Hickory Daily Record. June 4, 1955, p. 4; “UNC’s Public Health Registrar.”” Chapel Hill Herald, May 26,
1999, p. 6; “Scott Lee Kelly,” News and Observer, August 53,2012, p. A2; DB 235, 1379: DB 346. p. 15; DB 462, p. 589: DB 551,
p. 639: DB 1604, p. 330.

3 DB 213, p. 775; DB 1013, p. 309: DB 1833, p. 533; “Duke Sets Up New Office,” Durham Sun, February 17, 1968, p. 3:
Richard B. Pollman, One-story Homes, portfolio no. 51 (Detroit, Michigan: Home Planners, Inc., undated), 4.
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the brick foundations elsewhere. Fixed and sliding wood-frame plate-glass windows light the interior.
The west wing’s street-facing south wall affords privacy, with brick veneer below clerestory windows and
deep eaves supported by projecting rafter ends. The single-leaf wood-frame glazed front door is on the
west wing’s east elevation. A broad brick chimney pierces the west wing’s roof near its center. Vertical
boards sheathe the garage’s east wall beneath the gable clerestory windows. A brick planter spans the
brick-veneered south wall. All walls are running-bond variegated-red-brick topped with a header-course.

Robert M. Stephenson Jr. joined the UNC-CH mathematics department faculty in July 1967, relocating
from New Orleans where he taught at Tulane University. Dr. Stephenson and his wife Rosina purchased
this lot in December and commissioned Orange Builders to.erect a residence designed by Richard B.
Pollman, whose Michigan company Home Planners, Inc. published books containing over 2,500 house
plans during the mid-twentieth century. The Stephensons selected design number 1046. Subsequent
owners include Judith B. and Alvin C. Warren Jr. (June 1973), Jiri and Tamara Prazma (June 1974), David
John Honigmann and Betty Joane:Maultsby (November 1986), William Drew and Phyllis Pechmann
Maultsby (December 1987). Richard C. and Rosemary H. Wilson (September 1998), Carlos and Kristina
Sandi (June 2006), and Jeremy S. and Mary Christine Barnes (October 2020).'4

Stowe-Gold House. 1969, 1727 Allard Road, contributing building

This Modernist residence comprises a side-gable split-level west wing connected by an inset entrance bay
to the front-gable east garage wing. Both have deep eaves. A narrow shed-roofed section spans the south
(rear) elevation. ‘Most walls are sheathed with painted vertical boards above the
variegated-red-brick-veneer foundations. However, the garage’s north wall and sections of its east and
west walls are fully brick-veneered. The long rectangular windows in the split-level wing’s foundation
wall have header-course sills. Elsewhere, fixed and sliding plate-glass windows and doors light the
interior. Paired full-height sidelights flank the wide double-leaf front door, painted red in contrast to the
beige siding. Brick steps rise to the brick landing. The garage door opening on the east wing’s east wall
has been enclosed with sliding-glass doors. A broad brick chimney pierces the east wing’s roof.

Massachusetts native Howard D. Stowe was a professor in UNC-CH’s medical school pathology
department from September 1968 through December 1973. The couple moved after Barbara Spilker
Stowe, a home economics professor who earned a PhD. in textiles from University of North Carolina at
Greensboro that year, became the head of Auburn University’s consumer affairs department, a role she held
until 1977.  Goforth Properties sold the house to Gordon K. and Jane Casey Gold in March 1979. Gordon

14 Pete Ivey, “Chancellor Announces 81 New Faculty Members,” Daily Tar Heel, May 13, 1967. p. 6; Deed of Trust Book 204,
p. 349: DB 250, p. 469;: DB 613, p. 410; DB 702, p. 89; DB 1789, p. 168: DB 4069, p. 531; DB 6684. p. 1819; Ridky-Blackburn,
Historic Coker Hills, 159; Pollman, One-story Homes, portfolio no. 51, 8.
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K. Gold designed more than three thousand promotional toys manufactured by Gold Premium Company, a
company established by his father Samuel H. Gold in Chicago. Clients included Beechnut, Best Foods,
Borden, Burger King, Campbell Soup, Cracker Jack, General Foods, General Mills, Johnson and Johnson,
Kellogg’s, Kool-Aid, McDonalds, Nabisco, Pillsbury, Quaker Oats, and Vicks. »After retiring in 1973 to
Chapel Hill, he speculated in real estate in Chapel Hill, Carrboro, Durham, and Wilmington. Jane Casey
Gold, a television actress and model, was Ms. lowa in 1949. “Michael.and Kara Tanenbaum Rothberg
bought the property from the Gold family in July 2023."°

C. Bion and Mary C. Sears House, 1973, 1728 Allard Road, contributing building

An Asian architectural influence is evident in this Modernist dwelling’s form. plan, and finish. The
vertical-board siding and concrete-block foundation of the one-story-on-basement residence are painted
dark brown to blend with the natural surroundings. The effect emulates Japanese buildings in which the
exterior face of cypress board sheathing is charred, resulting in a resilient carbonized surface. The wood
preservation technique is known as Yakisugi or Shou Sugi Ban. The house has a square plan, with rooms
arranged around a central open space topped with a gabled monitor at the center of the low hip roof.
Clerestory windows in the monitor, skylights, and nineteen full-height plate-glass windows flanking the
single-leaf front door and punctuating the north and east walls provide ample light. A single high sliding
window pierces the west elevation: A painted-concrete-block retaining wall extends west of the house to
screen a flat-roofed carport. To the north, a painted-wood pergola tops the basement-level west entrance
and wood steps rise to the wood deck that wraps around the north and east elevations. Both have wood
railings with rectangular pickets.. The interior is characterized by bamboo floors. The landscape also
manifests Asian design principles, with sparse plantings, pea gravel, and large accent rocks in the front
garden and a pond and walking paths behind the house.'®

UNC-CH graduate and retired banker Charles Bion Sears, known as Bion, and his wife Mary Currie Sears,
a Flora McDonald College alumna and choir director, engaged a friend, architect Elizabeth Bobbitt Lee of
Lumberton, North Carolina, to design this unique residence to showcase Asian art and furnishings collected
during their travels. Elizabeth B. Lee was the first female graduate of the North Carolina State College

School of Design (1952). first woman president of the North Carolina Chapter of the AIA (1979). and first

15 “Sitterson Announces New University Faculty Members,” Chapel Hill Weekly, September 18, 1968, p. 7; “UNC Announces
Resignations,” Durham Sun, December 22, 1973, p. 3; Penny Wika, “Home Ec’s dean,” Manhattan Mercury (Kansas),
November 10, 1983, pp. 1 and 10; Mary Burch, “Nifty Prizes Inside,” News and Observer, July 22, 1989, pp. C1-C2; Donald W.
Patterson, “Family put toy surprises,” News and Record (Greensboro), July 20, 1989, pp. C1-C2; “Gordon K. and Jane Casey
Gold,” Herald-Sun, December 18, 2022, p. B14; DB 305, p. 277: DB 6823, p. 1653; DB 6850, p. 2102.

!¢ Lois Ann Hobbs, “Japanese Gardening in Chapel Hill,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, February 1, 1981, p. D1; Marisa Sears,
telephone conversation with Heather Fearnbach, October 1, 2024.
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North Carolina woman to attain AIA Fellowship status (1986).!” The Searses initially intended to build the
house near Lake Waccamaw, but instead purchased a lot in Coker Hills. They moved to Chapel Hill from
Whiteville, North Carolina (Bion’s hometown), as soon as Orange Builders finished the house. The
two-bedroom basement guest suite was often occupied by family as well as their.friends from Whiteville,
where Bion had been president of First National Bank. He died on February 23, 2002. Mary Sears, an
avid gardener, died on August 2, 2007. Their son, professional photographer Daniel Currie Sears, and his
wife Marisa Beddingfield Sears inherited the property. Dan Sears, a UNC-CH alumnus, was a
photographer for the News Reporter (Whiteville), Star-News (Wilmington), Associated Press, United Press
International, and UNC-CH (1992-2015). Marisa Sears, an accounting technician at the UNC Adams

School of Dentistry, remains in residence after Daniel’s death on May 25, 2023.'®

Robert G. and Marian Crounse House, 1972, 1730 Allard Road, contributing building

This one-story-on-basement side=gable-roofed Modernist house features deep eaves that shelter
wood-frame casement and fixed single-pane windows. The single-leaf glazed door is recessed at the south
elevation’s center beneath a shed dormer with three square single-pane windows. The house is sheathed
with painted board-and-batten siding above a painted brick foundation. A wood terrace spans the fagade’s
west bays. The vertical-board wall at the terrace’s west end screens the rear yard. A stone retaining wall
borders the driveway’s east edge. < Brian F. and Clarissa A. Willett, who purchased the property in 2018,
refurbished the house and landscaping in 2023." The interior is characterized by hardwood floors, a central
chimney, and exposed ceiling beams, trusses, and wide-board decking.

Ann Bickett Parker Stevens, a graduate of Columbia University’s architecture school, designed the house
built by the general contracting company she operated with her husband Jack E. Stevens. Robert Crounse
was appointed professor of dermatology and chairman and associate dean of UNC-CH’s Medical Allied
Health Professions Department in May 1973. His previous employers included the Medical College of
Georgia. Crounse resigned in August 1980 after accepting a position at East Carolina University in
Greenville, North Carolina.!? Subsequent owners include Richard B. and Ruth Palmer (March 1981),
Katherine Ballew (July2006), and Patricia B. and Nickolas C. Holzer (May 2015).%°

17 C. David Jackson and Charlotte V. Brown, History of the North Carolina Chapter of the American Institute of Architects,
1913-1998: An Architectural Heritage (Raleigh: North Carolina Chapter of the American Institute of Architects, 1998), 89, 210.
18 Mary Smith, “Oriental Beauty of Sears’ Home,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, March 30, 1975, p. D1; “Name Bion Sears Bank
President,” Tabor City Tribune, May 14, 1938, p. 1; “Charles Bion Sears,” News and Observer, February 25, 2002, p. B6. “Mary
Currie Sears,” News and Observer, August 5, 2007, p. B6, “Dan Currie Sears,” Walker’s Funeral Home obituary, May 2023;
Marisa Sears, telephone conversation with Heather Fearnbach, October 1, 2024.

19«7 Faculty Appointments Announced,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, May 15, 1973, p. 5; “Faculty Notes,” Chapel Hill Newspaper,
August 10, 1980, p. 6.

2 DB 359, p. 184; DB 4093, p. 427: DB 5944, p. 486; DB 6522, p. 583.
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Carport, 1972, contributing structure

The freestanding front-gable carport west of the house has an exposed painted-wood roof structure
supported by wood posts on tall painted-brick side walls. The walls enclosing the utility room at
the north end are sheathed with painted board-and-batten siding.

Phillip L. and Constance D. Hanst House, 1970, 1732 Allard Road, contributing building

This Modernist house comprises a two-story front-=gable west block and a one-story gabled east garage
wing that extends east to a carport erected in 1989." The upper-story vertical-board siding and ground floor
and wing brick veneer are painted taupe. The deep eaves are supported by exposed rafter ends.
Clerestory, fixed single-pane, and sliding windows; skylights: and single-leaf wood-frame glazed doors
with sidelights provide ample light. Wood decks with square posts and picket railings cantilevered high
above grade wrap around the main block’s east, south,and west elevations, intersecting a gabled screened
porch at the west elevation’s center. The single-bay garage has a wide paneled roll-up door. Square posts
support the carport roof.  Original interior features include exposed ceiling beams and wide-board decking.
hardwood floors, and a variegated-red-brick chimney.

Durham-based L. H. Rhew Construction Company built the house for Dr. Phillip L. Hanst, a U. S.
Environmental Protection Agency employee, and his family, who moved to Chapel Hill in 1970. He
commuted to the EPA’s Raleigh office. Dr. Hanst was among the earliest scientists to warn that air
pollution exacerbates global warming. At Philadelphia’s Franklin Institute in 1955, he was the first
researcher to use infrared spectroscopy to measure chemical reactions between impurities in the air.
Subsequent owners include Lila Carol and John K. Whisnant Jr. (December 1983), William D. and Dorothy
S. Hall (October 1990), Michael E. and Julie Story Byerley (July 2002), and Margaret Ann Curnutte and
Joshua Michael Fischer (March 2022).!

Audubon Road

Jack Newton and Louise Behrman House, 1965, 1702 Audubon Road, contributing building

This one-story, side-gable-roofed, variegated-red-brick-veneered Colonial Revival-style house comprises a
tripartite main block and offset two-bay garage at the south end. The slightly taller roof of the central three
bays extends to create a porch sheltering the entrance and two windows to the south. A classical surround

21 “Scientist Believes,” Asbury Park Press (New Jersey), September 23, 1955, p. 18; “Tube of Man-Made Sky,” Buffalo Evening
News (New York), October 29, 1955, p. 14.; Jim Beamguard, “Why Do Residents Prefer,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, March 7.
1976, p. 2; DB 447, p. 213: DB 792, p. 470; DB 884. p. 249; DB 2650, p. 123; DB 6774, p. 1584.
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with fluted pilasters and a molded cornice frames the single-leaf door and sidelights. The porch has an
arcaded cornice, slender columns, flat-stone-veneered steps, and matching foundation walls and floor.
Fixed three-panel shutters flank six-over-six and eight-over-twelve double-hung synthetic sash. Three
pedimented dormers with fluted pilasters, keystones, and four-over-four double-hung synthetic sash pierce
the roof above the porch. Behind them, a brick chimney rises from the rear roof slope. The gables.
dormer walls, and garage wing are weatherboarded. The garage has two six panel doors and a small
hip-roofed cupola.

L. H. Rhew Construction Company erected the Behrman residence. Before joining UNC-CH’s business
school faculty in January 1964, Jack Behrman taught international politics and economics at Washington
and Lee University (1952-1957) and the University of Delaware (1957-1963). THe served as United States
assistant secretary of commerce and undersecretary. of state from 1961 through 1963. The Behrmans sold
the property to current owners Ted Douglas and Allison Powell Zoller in June 2001.%

Storage building, 2004, noncontributing building

The gable-roofed building in the southwest corner of the property is sheathed with vinyl German
siding and rests on a brick foundation. A pair of windows on the north elevation lights the interior.
The entrance is on the eastelevation. The building is noncontributing due to age.

Andrew M. and Sue C. Karres House, 1970, 1703 Audubon Road, contributing building

This side-gable-roofed red-brick-veneered house encompasses a two-story four-bay main block and an
offset one-story south garage wing. Colonial Revival stylistic elements include the denticulated cornice
and pedimented portico supported by Tuscan columns. The eight-over-eight and eight-over-twelve
double-hung wood sash on the primary (east) facade are flanked by louvered shutters with wrought-iron
hold-backs. A multi-pane picture window with four-over-six double-hung sidelights is north of the
portico. - The double-leaf wood front door has twenty-one small square panels in each leaf. Brick steps
and a brick landing provide egress. Brick end chimneys pierce the eaves at the main block’s north and
south ends. The garage wing has a roll-up door and single-leaf entrance on the south elevation. Both
sections have louvered gable vents.

Andrew M. Karres, a commercial real estate developer whose projects included Eastgate Shopping Center
on US 15-501, incorporated B. K. and R. Rental Company in February 1959 and Karres Construction

22 “Dr. Jack Behrman,” Greensboro Record, March 25, 1961, p. B1: “UNC Announces Faculty Changes,” Chapel Hill Weekly,
November 20, 1963, p. B3; Guy Munger, “A Lifetime of Learning.” News and Observer, November 27, 1990, pp. 1 and 27: DB
2277, p. 244.
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Company in September 1963. East Coast Development Corporation erected the Audubon Road residence
for Andrew and his wife Sue. After her death in July 1981, Andrew remained in residence until Bruce W.
and Ann H. Erickson bought the property in July 1986.3

Paul A. and Eleanor B. Obrist House, 1968, circa 2015, circa 2023, 1705 Audubon Road,
noncontributing building

This residence comprises a two-story, four-bay, side-gable-roofed main block and an offset one-story south
wing with an east-facing gable. The house has been extensively renovated in conjunction with ownership
changes. Vinyl siding, one-over-one sash vinyl windows;.and a single-leaf door and sidelights were
installed around 2015. Circa 2023, three gabled dormers, a gabled portico with an open pediment and
square posts, and a single-leaf stained-wood replacement door with an eight-pane upper section, four-pane
sidelights, and five-pane transom were added. The portico has brick steps and a brick landing. The south
wing. originally a garage, is accessed via single-leaf doors on the east and south elevations. Vertical-board
shutters cover the opening in the east gable. The wing’s fenestration was reconfigured during its
conversion to residential use. likely in the'late 1980s.. The south wall has smooth sheathing. The house is
noncontributing due to alterations. 1

Psychologist Paul A. Obrist joined UNC-CH's medical school psychiatry department in fall 1960, moving
from Antioch, Ohio, where he taught at Fels Research Institute. Eleanor Obrist was an organist and choir
director at Saint Thomas More Catholic Church. Subsequent owners include Louise Mebane and Lyman
A. Ripperton [II (July 1986), George L. and Alane Murdock Stalcup and Carol L. Rich (January 2015), and
Christopher and Priscilla Wilderman (June 2020).%

Ball-Cocke House, 1969, 1991, 1707 Audubon Road, contributing building

This expansive gable-roofed Modernist residence was designed to take advantage of the steep elevation
decline to the west, which allows for an almost fully above-grade lower level. The house comprises an
L-plan main block with projecting additions at the west end (1991) and the south elevation’s center (date
unknown). The east wall of the main block and the carport that extends from its southeast corner are all
that is visible from the street. Painted vertical boards sheathe the house above the variegated-red-brick
foundation. A matching brick chimney rises on the north gable of the main block’s west bays.

3 “Charlotte Incorporations,” Charlotte Observer, February 19, 1959, p. 12; “Contractor,” Durham Sun, September 11, 1963, p.
B12; “Building Permits,” Chapel Hill Weekly, May 10, 1970, p. 4; “Sue C. Karres,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, July 5. 1981, p. 10:
DB 588, p. 579.

24 %26 Hired by Aycock,” Daily Tar Heel, September 16, 1960, p. 3; “UNC Psychology Professor,” Durham Sun, October 29,
1987, p. 34; DB 212, p. 77; DB 584, p. 504; DB 5895, p. 370; DB 6666. p. 2079; DB 6827, p. 1181.
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Six-over-six and eight-over-eight double-hung wood sash and skylights illuminate the main block.
Clerestory and large multi-section fixed and casement windows in the north addition’s upper level, a
sunroom, afford views of the surrounding woods. A wood deck extends from the addition’s east bay at its
intersection with the main block. A brick patio surrounds the one-story kitchen addition. Interior finishes
include hardwood floors in most rooms, terra-cotta tile floors inthe primary corridor, and a classical
living/dining room mantel.

The design of this house has been attributed to Thomas Michael Dillion O’Shea, a World War II veteran
who sold vehicles and real estate before enrolling in.the NCSU School of Design in 1967. That year, he
worked at the Raleigh architecture firm McKimmon and Rogers, likely as a draftsman. He graduated from
NCSU in 1972.% -

Lester B. Ball purchased the Coker Hills lot in December 1967 after joining UNC-CH's education
department that fall. He conveyed the property to his wife Betty in July 1969, soon after the house was
completed.”® The couple divorced in March 1970.. Betty later married Richard P. Cocke, who moved to
Chapel Hill in 1972 afterretiring as comptroller and executive vice president from Trans-Arabian Pipeline
Company. The Cockes sold the property in June 1985 to John W. and Betty V. Delanty. The couple
commissioned contractor Rick Mathena to erect the west addition in 1991. Subsequent owners include
Nancy Helm Estabrooks (June 2004) and Margaret-G. Gillespie and Dwight L. Rogers III (July 2008).*’

Gregg-Linderski House, 1976, 1708 Audubon Road, contributing building

This Modernist house comprises a two-story, front-gable, three-bay main block with a one-story side-gable
north wing, all sheathed with vertical boards above a concrete foundation. A shed-roofed portico
supported by a slender square post shelters the double-leaf door in the recessed north bay of the main
block’s west wall. The four-section casement window to the south is flanked by blind recessed bays.
Elsewhere, two- and four-section casement windows light the interior. The natural wood finish of the
window casing and door contrasts with the dark brown siding stain. A deck spans the entire east elevation.

This house was constructed for John M. and Gail D. Gregg, who purchased the lot in January 1976. Dr.

2 Irving Long, “Survey,” News and Observer, October 20, 1967, p. 46; “Thomas Michael Dillion O’Shea,” News and Observer,
July 18, 2013, p. B6.

2 Dr. Ball’s prior experience included teaching at elementary schools, universities, and serving as the school superintendent of a
New Jersey and three Illinois school districts. He retired in May 1979 and died in January 1981. “Faculty, Other Appointments
Announced,” Daily Tar Heel, July 28, 1967, p. 9; “Dr. Lester B. Ball,” Chapel Hill Weekly, August 20, 1967, p. 7; “Students
Honor Retired Professor,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, June 6, 1979, p. B2: DB 221. p. 556.

¥ DB 221, p. 556; DB 519, p. 318; DB 3478, p. 211; DB 4561, p. 369; “Building Permits.” News and Observer, May 16, 1991,
p. 6F: “Cocke.” Herald-Sun, November 18, 1997, p. C2; “Betty L. Cocke,” News and Observer, January 9. 2011, p. A9.
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Gregg was an associate professor in the UNC-CH dentistry department at that time. He resigned from
UNC-CH as a professor of oral surgery and associate professor of anesthesiology and sold the property to
Jerzy S. Linderski in July 1981. Dr. Linderski became the Paddison professor of Latin in UNC-CH's
classics department in fall 1979. His publications included a monograph on Roman religion and politics.
Dr. Linderski retains ownership of the house.?®

Storage building, late twentieth century, noncontributing building

The gable-roofed building northeast of the house is sheathed with vertical boards. The west wall is
blind. The entrance is on the south elevation. The building is noncontributing due to age.

George B. and Bess P. Autry House, 1969, 1709 Audubon Road, contributing building

This Modernist two-story-on-basement vertical-board-sheathed house is distinguished by a dramatic
asymmetrical gable roof with a shear east slope and steeply pitched west slope. Glazed wood-frame doors
and clerestory, fixed single-pane, and sliding windows provide ample light. The frames were painted
black in 2021. The house rests on a variegated-red-brick foundation. A wood deck spans most of the rear
elevation. In 2021, a screened rear porch was constructed at the building’s northwest corner, the exterior
siding was painted blue. and a solar panel was installed on the east roof slope. The interior features
exposed ceiling beams and wide-board decking, board-and-batten-sheathed walls, hardwood floors, and a
central variegated-red-brick chimney. The kitchen plan was reconfigured in 2021 and the basement was
renovated in 2024.%’

John H. and Ellen A Hoggard sold the house to George B. and Bess P. Autry in June 1972. The Autrys
had moved to Chapel Hill in October 1967 from Washington, D. C, where George was chief counsel and
staft director of the U. S. Senate subcommittee on constitutional rights. He became executive director of
Manpower Development Corporation, created to provide workforce training. The National Association of
Manufacturers and the Office of Economic Opportunity sponsored the initiative. George, a Wilmington.
North Carolina native, believed education was the most effective means to ameliorate poverty. He worked
with a broad coalition of leaders to create the North Carolina Rural Development Center and expand the
community college system. George Autry died in April 1999. Subsequent owners include David M. and
Carol A. Price (July 2001) and Herman Pontzer and Janice Wang (April 2018).%"

28 “UNC Faculty Promotions Are Approved,” Durham Morning Herald. June 1, 1973, p. C3; “Resignations,” Chapel Hill
Newspaper, August 30, 1981, p. 15; “Three Profs Named Chairs,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, July 22,1979, p. 6: “Leaves of
Absence,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, June 30, 1985, p. 9; DB 260, p. 863; DB 368, p. 382.

¥ Janice Wang, email correspondence with Heather Fearnbach, October 2025,

30 “Autry Will Direct Antipoverty Project,” Winston-Salem Journal, October 24, 1967, p. 4: “George B. Autry,” News and
Observer, April 26, 1999, pB4: DB 236, p. 927; DB 2325, p. 328; DB 6445, p. 331.
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Carport, 1969, contributing structure

The freestanding carport east of the house has a matching asymmetrical gable roof supported by
wood posts on the west end and a variegated-red-brick east wall. .The walls enclosing the utility
room at the north end are sheathed with vertical boards.

Sylvia and Paul S. Hubbard Jr. House, 1969, 1710 Audubon Road, contributing building

This Modernist one-story-on-basement, side-gable-roofed; vertical-board-sheathed house comprises a
slightly taller east wing and an offset west wing with a lower level two-bay garage. The primary entrance
is sheltered by an inset porch with a slender square.metal post and railing at the wings’ intersection.
Sliding-glass doors and fixed and sliding windows light the interior. The brown siding and
variegated-brown-brick foundation were recently painted bright blue and the window sash and roll-up
paneled garage doors were painted black. A wood deck extends from the west wing’s north elevation.
The interior is characterized by vertical-board wall sheathing, a vaulted living room ceiling with an exposed
central beam, hardwood floors in most first-floor rooms, a stone foyer floor, and two wide
variegated-red-brick fireplaces.

Security Building Company, headed by J. P Goforth, erected the house using plans from L.M. Brunier and
Associates of Portland, Oregon. modified per the Hubbards’s instructions. Physicist Paul S. Hubbard Jr.
researched nuclear magnetic resonance while a Ph.D. student at Harvard University and continued his work
after joining UNC-CH'’s faculty in fall 1958. He served as associate dean of the UNC graduate school
trom fall 1969 until spring 1972, after which he returned to full-time research and teaching. The Hubbards
sold the house to current owners Katherine L. Mottola and Robert S. Taylor in November 2014.%!

Tom K. and Harriet W. Scott House, 1970, 2008, 1711 Audubon Road, noncontributing building
(Photo 2)

This Modernist, side-gable-roofed, split-level house is distinguished by contrasting materials and wall
plane variation. “All upper-story walls were initially sheathed with cedar channel rustic siding above
ground-floor brick veneer. Long cantilevered planters sided in the same manner spanned the east
elevation’s upper-story south bays and the south elevation beneath aluminum-frame curtain walls. In
2008, the planters and windows were removed and the walls shifted out approximately two feet. The

31«9 New Members,” Winston-Salem Jowrnal, May 18, 1958, p. 2B; “Dr. P. S. Hubbard,” Durham Morning Herald, February 4.
1962, p. 12; “Associate Dean Named,” Winston-Salem Journal, August 15, 1969, p. 4; “Associate Dean Named,” Durham
Morning Herald, June 15. 1972, p.C3: DB 212, p. 65;: DB 5873. p. 55; Ridky-Blackburn, Historic Coker Hills, 142.
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cantilevered walls were covered with horizontal cherry boards around full-height dark-bronze-finished
aluminum-frame curtain walls and windows. The spandrel beneath the window on the south elevation has
a light pink, avocado green, and light-blue square-ceramic-tile spandrel. Elsewhere, upper story cedar
channel rustic siding and ground-floor brick veneer are painted beige and taupe, respectively. Original
casement windows, clerestory gable windows, and skylights illuminate the interior. The original
single-leaf flat-panel wood door in the recessed central entrance is flanked by a wide stained-glass sidelight
and tall clear-glass transom. A wide painted-brick-edged bluestone landing provides egress. Exposed
rafter ends support the deep eaves. A brick chimney pierces the roof near its center. The wood deck that
spanned the rear (west) elevation was replaced in 2008 with a wood deck with a post-and-wire railing
cantilevered high above grade. Artist Edwin White crafted the red-painted steel sculpture titled
“Barcelona Coming Along”™ in the east yard and the powder-coated sheet metal sculpture that hangs just
west of the deck, titled “Red Baron Pinched.” The interior retains exposed ceiling beams, hardwood
tloors, a stair with a wrought-iron railing, and a wide painted-brick fireplace with an elevated hearth and
two fireboxes. The 2008 renovation included wall and ceiling insulation. The kitchen and bathroom
remodeling included African tile installation on the kitchen backsplash and in bathrooms.*> The house is
noncontributing due to alterations.

Tom and Harriet Scott bought this lot from Coker Hills, In¢. in April 1969 and soon engaged Security
Building Company to construct the house using a stock plan. Tom Scott joined the UNC-CH faculty as
botany professor in fall 1969, chaired the botany department from 1972 to 1982, and directed the oftice of
research services from 1985 until 1990. He took leave to direct NASA’s space biology program for a year
beginning in August 1994. Harriet Scott was a Carolina Friends School head teacher. The couple had
four children. Subsequent owners include James C. Dickerman and Patsy J. Sartor (September 1986),
Westley H. and Frances C. Reeves (May 1991), and Douglas E. Shackelford and Julia Romashkova (March
2000). Christian Arandel and Leila Hessini purchased the property in April 2002 and in 2008
commissioned Raleigh architect Charles Fulbright Holden of Oxide Architecture to guide a renovation.
Katherine Gill of Tributary Landscaping in Durham rendered landscape plans.*’

Walter E. and Gretchen E. Locher House, 1969, 1713 Audubon Road, contributing building

This expansive Modernist two-level residence occupies a one-acre lot that stretches between Audubon and
Allard roads with dramatic elevation decline to the north. The house is situated below Audubon Road

32 Leila Hessini, telephone conversation and email correspondence with Heather Fearnbach, November 2025.

33 “Three New Department Chairmen,” Chapel Hill Weekly, June 7, 1972, p. 5; “Brazilian Soccer,” Chapel Hill Newspaper, July
17,1977, p. D4; “UNC Botanist,” Herald-Sun, August 28, 1994, p. 7; DB 220, p. 262;: DB 605, p. 171; DB 912, p. 603. DB 2038,
p. 305: DB 2571, p. 254; Ridky-Blackburn, Historic Coker Hills, 155: Leila Hessini, telephone conversation and email
correspondence with Heather Fearnbach, November 2025; Photographs taken by Christian Arandel, September 2008-November
2008.
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grade at the cul-de-sac’s north end. The extremely low-pitched front-gable roof has deep eaves with
exposed rafter ends. Wide painted vertical boards sheathe the one-story south elevation with the exception
of the variegated-red-brick-veneered garage at the east end. On secondary elevations, the lower level is
veneered with matching brick veneer and the upper level covered wide painted vertical boards. Single-leaf
and sliding doors and clerestory, fixed, and casement windows provide ample light.  The projecting
central three bays of the north elevation are flanked with upper-level decks above patios. The east patio is
screened with wood lattice. A brick chimney rises on the south wall of the projecting bays. A gravel path
winds through the wooded north yard to Allard Road.

The Lochers, who had previously resided abroad, commissioned Security Building Company to construct a
house designed by Richard B. Pollman and Irving E. Palmquist, whose Michigan company Home Planners,
Inc. published books containing over 2,500 house plans during the mid-twentieth century. The Lochers
slightly modified design number N 1126 by removing the central fireplace. After heading the pipeline
division for Creole Petroleum Corporation in Caracas, Venezuela, Walter Locher was employed by the
Trans-Arabian Pipeline Company in Beirut, Lebanon, from 1950 until retiring as executive vice president in
1968. Subsequent owners include Michael J. Rosenburg and Ellen R. Ruina (July 1983) and James A. and
Joan S. Rose (August2001).%*

Clayton Road
Sion D. and Margaret B, Jennings House, 1961, 304 Clayton Road, contributing building

This One-story-on-basement, side-gable-roofed Ranch house comprises a tripartite main block with a
slightly offset two-bay garage at the south end and two gabled rear wings. The projecting central section
- features a slightly taller roof, inset north porch with a slate floor and steps, and a group of four sliding-glass
windows above a brick kneewall. The walls of this section and the garage are sheathed with vertical-board
siding, while the main block’s north and south bays are veneered with long, thin, red brick laid in running
bond. Brick walkways extend from the street and driveway to the primary entrance. A stone retaining
wall borders the driveway’s south edge. The house fronts the cul-de-sac at Clayton Road’s east end.

Chapel Hill Tire Company proprietors Sion D. and Margaret B. Jennings and their daughters Jackie and
Anne moved in October 1961 from Durham to their newly completed Coker Hills home, one of the first in
the subdivision. Margaret, who had been an executive secretary at Standard Oil Company in Chicago and
American Tobacco Company in Durham, was the tire company’s bookkeeper. After selling that business
in 1962, the Jenningses founded Triangle Mortgage Company and speculated in real estate. developing

34 ~Arab Notebook,” The Plain Dealer (Cleveland, Ohio), November 19, 1967, p. 8; “Building Permits,” Chapel Hill Weekly,
May 10, 1970, p. 4; DB 426. p. 315; DB 2330, p. 200.
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projects including University Square, a multi-use complex on West Franklin Street. The couple retired in
1986. Sion Jennings died on March 7, 1996. Margaret Jennings sold the property to James A. and Dina
G. Urquhart in June 1996. The Urquharts conveyed the property to Patrick J. Nagle and Kate L. Sheahan
in May 2019.%

Roy L. and Gwendolyn C. Lindahl House, 1965, 305 Clayton Road, contributing building

This Modernist house encompasses a series of intersecting hip-roofed wings that frame a central courtyard.
Exposed rafters support deep eaves above flush-horizontal-board-sheathed walls punctuated by regularly
spaced thin battens. A matching railing borders concrete steps at the central entrance. Only two groups of
casement windows pierce the street-facing elevations. However; numerous large fixed and casement
windows, glazed doors, and curtain walls on secondary elevations provide ample light. The room that
projects from the west end of the north east-west wing is distinguished by a steeply pitched shed roof that
slopes toward the wing. The deep west eave shelters a high, wide window opening. The interior is
characterized by wood-sheathed accent walls that match the exterior siding, hardwood floors, vaulted
ceilings with exposed beams in primary public areas, and a wide brick chimney. A courtyard-fronting
corridor has a red-terra-cotta-tile floor, exterior curtain wall, and original full-height built-in cabinets lining
the interior wall.

Roy L. and Gwendolyn C. Lindahl purchased this lot from John T. and Elizabeth W. Manning in August
1964. The Lindhals commissioned architect Harwell Hamilton Harris and general contractor F. E.
Osborne of Wake Forest to design and build their house. The couple moved to Chapel Hill in August 1952,
when Dr. Lindhal joined UNC-Chapel Hill’s newly created dental school as an assistant professor of
pediatric dentistry. He had served in the U. S. Navy during World War II and earned dental degrees from
the University of Southern California and University of Michigan in Ann Arbor. Dr. Lindhal was elevated
to professor and pediatric dentistry department head in 1956. He held leadership positions in numerous
local, state, and national dental and civic organizations. Gwendolyn C. Lindahl, known as Gwen, was the
director of the City of Chapel Hill's Recreation Department from 1967 until 1972. She conveyed her
interest in the property to Dr. Lindhal in May 1974. Roy L. Lindahl and his wife Marian M. Stephenson
sold the property to Jason and Teresa Wilson in August 2004. The Wilsons engaged architect John
William Waddell of Distinctive Architecture to guide the 2005 kitchen renovation. The scope of work
included replacement of the full-height wall between the kitchen and dining room with a
three-quarter-height wall of cabinets with translucent-glass doors. Luo Xunrong purchased the property in

33 Chapel Hill Weekly, October 23, 1961, p. 3; “Sion Jennings,” Chapel Hill Newspaper. January 16, 1973, p. 1; “Jack Jennings,”
Chapel Hill News, March 10. 1996, p. 11: “Jennings,” Herald-Sun, January 25, 2002, p. C2; DB 178, p. 555: DB 1474, p. 452;
DB 6612, p. 1547.
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June 2019.3°
Edward J. and Doris R. Gill House, 1962, 306 Clayton Road, contributing building (Photo 3)

This Modernist, side-gable-roofed, split-level house is distinguished by contrasting materials and wall
plane variation. On the cantilevered walls of the upper-story southwest bays and in the east gable, narrow
vertical dark-stained wood boards frame single-pane windows. The north two-thirds of the west wall is
sheathed with painted horizontal siding. Elsewhere, walls are veneered with long, thin, variegated-red
brick. Fixed, casement, and sliding wood-frame windows illuminate the interior. A shallow
dark-stained-vertical-board-clad soffit spans the east two-thirds of the facade. bisecting the central entrance
bay comprising a double-leaf wood-frame glazed door, a sidelight with two large square offset windows,
and a group of three upper-level windows. Exposed rafter ends support the deep eaves. A low wood deck
with a post-and-wire railing and broad wrap-around stepsextends from the south elevation’s center. A
matching elevated deck extends from the northeast corner. A brick chimney pierces the roof near its
center. The south wall of the one-story gabled variegated-red-brick-veneered garage at the main block’s
east end is inset to cover a walkway leading to the east entrance.

Edward J. and Doris R. Gill moved in 1954 from Pennsylvania to Chapel Hill, where Edward was a
transmitter engineer at the UNC television station. ~He concurrently took engineering classes at Duke
University and UNC-CH. The Gills bought this lot in May 1961 and occupied their home in 1962. After
their six children were all enrolled in school, Doris directed St. Thomas More Playschool. Her civic
service included volunteering at the Community Kitchen on Merritt Mill Road, Meals on Wheels, and
Kroger Plaza PTA Thrift Shop. and working as a crossing guard at Glenwood Elementary School. Edward
Gill retired from UNC-CH in 1985. He died on June 25, 2002. Subsequent owners include Rosario A.
and Kristen C. Zuco (August 2005) and Keith and Al<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>